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THE CORPS OF

ROYAL NEW ZEALAND ENGINEERS

Notes by H.E. Chamberlain

Formerly WO1, RNZE

HISTORY IS BUNK  - Henry Ford in the witness-box when suing the Chicago Tribune 1919.

History has always been a subject which has enraptured a few, interested a few and bored many. Yet all the great military leaders have made a study of history, learned from the subject, and applied it to their own situation. One does not have to look far to seek lessons on our most necessary and vital of military trades.

Montgomery on the long march from Alamein to Berlin during the 1939-45 war had pinned on the wall of his caravan a quotation from Shakespeare's Henry V: “O God of Battles! steel my soldier's hearts.” Field Marshall Lord Wavell drew attention to the occasion when the Spartans were at the height of their military fame they sent a delegation to the Oracle at Delphi and demanded, somewhat arrogantly, “Can anything harm Sparta?” The answer came quickly: “Yes, luxury.” These two leaders both studied history and applied the lessons they knew to the pursuit of their campaigns.

Have you got the luxury to ignore history - our own history?

WHERE DID WE COME FROM?
Our origins stem naturally from the traditions and experience of the Royal Engineers with whom we share many common interests. 

Military engineering has its origins in antiquity - for the first time that man placed a log across a creek could be said to be a military engineering experience. Ancient texts from Chinese, Egyptian, Hebrew and other Middle Eastern sources provide information about military engineering skills of road making, bridge building, fortifications and defence works. However to come closer to our time the succession of consulting engineers to the King started with Bishop Gundulph who worked for William the Conqueror, and built the White Tower of the Tower of London. Then in the 15th Century the Board of Ordnance was established to control, amongst other things the Artillery and the Engineers. On 26 May 1716 the Artillery and the Engineers were constituted as separate elements with their own establishments. Over 60 years later on 25 March 1787 the officer Corps of Engineers was granted the Royal title.

Engineer other ranks were first raised on a permanent basis when a company of Soldier Artificers was established in Gibraltar in 1772. In 1787 Companies of the Corps of Royal Military Artificers were raised for home and overseas service. The Soldier Artificers at Gibraltar were absorbed into the Corps of Royal Military Artificers in 1797. In 1812-13 the name was changed to the Corps of Royal Sappers and Miners and officers for this soldier Corps were provided by the Corps of Royal Engineers. Both Corps were administered by the Board of Ordnance.

In 1855, towards the close of the Crimean War, the Board of Ordnance was abolished. As a result the Corps of Royal Sappers and Miners were absorbed into the Corps of Royal Engineers on 17 October, 1856 and the reconstituted Corps came directly under the control of the War Office, thus ending the long-standing anomaly of engineer officers and soldiers belonging to separate Corps and the peculiarity of the Artillery and Engineers not coming directly under the orders of the Commander in Chief.

OTHER CORPS
Other Corps and organisations which have their origins in the Royal Engineers include the Royal Air Force (stemming from the Balloon Companies, RE, and the Royal Flying Corps). Some of the first planes in the air were the personal property of RE officers. The Royal Armoured Corps also has its parts of its origins in the RE, being the result of a dream created and fostered by the fertile mind of Colonel Ernest Swinton, RE (later Major General Sir Ernest Swinton) and others of like mind. The Royal Signals too stemmed from the Signals Companies of the Royal Engineers. They remained part of the Corps until 1921 when they became a Corps in their own right.

ROYAL ENGINEERS
Members of the Corps of Royal Engineers had a presence in New Zealand from 1841 when Lt Lugard first arrived from Norfolk Island to supervise the construction of Fort Britomart in Auckland. Small numbers of sappers followed but it was not until 1860 that the RE presence became more noticeable.  RE officers and the Sappers and Miners came to New Zealand and during the New Zealand or Land Wars mainly during the period 1860 – 1870.  Some took their discharge in New Zealand and others returned to New Zealand when their service engagement was complete.  Several of these men were later found as members of the sapper volunteer units that were formed from 1864 onwards.

It should be noted that railways, telegraphs, blockhouses, fortifications, main roads, bridges and other numerous engineer tasks were in many cases first performed in New Zealand by the Royal Engineers.  An example of their involvement in the early days of European works in New Zealand Colonel Mould and Lieutenant Colonel Bolton were both members of the Auckland Provincial Council.
NEW ZEALAND SAPPER UNITS

THE VOLUNTEER MOVEMENT
FIRST NEW ZEALAND SAPPER KILLED IN ACTION
Sapper Thomas Jordan, Killed in Action, at Whakamaramara, near Tauranga on 15 February 1867.

A memorial to Sapper Jordan, Auckland Engineer Volunteers, is at the entrance gates to the Whakamaramara school.
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Sapper units in New Zealand were first formed in the Volunteer movement. The first unit raised was the Canterbury Engineer Volunteers which had it's initial meetings in the long bar at the Zetland Hotel, near Cathedral Square in Christchurch. Other units were formed in Auckland, Thames (later Hauraki Engineer Volunteers - formed mainly because of the large engineering works of A & G Price at Thames), Dunedin, Wellington, Napier and Invercargill. At Invercargill the sapper unit changed to the Invercargill Engineer and Artillery Volunteers and the same day became "K" Battery, Artillery Volunteers. Some units lasted longer than others and some were absorbed into other units. No 2 Canterbury Engineer Volunteers was disbanded after an inspection disclosed that only two members of the unit turned up on parade and one of those was horribly drunk. Other seemingly strange units include the Devonport Naval Submarine Mining Volunteers (Auckland), the Star Boating Club Submarine Mining Corps (Wellington) and the Wellington Submarine Mining Corps. This latter unit apparently went on strike about 1904 after an annual camp at Evan's Bay. These units wore naval type uniforms.

Several men of the Engineer Volunteer units served as mounted riflemen in the New Zealand Contingents to the South African War 1899-1902.

In 1910 the Defence Act of 1909 came into force. The Volunteer system which had been in existence for over 50 years was disbanded and replaced by a Territorial Force (similar to that in England) raised by compulsory military training. After a 1910 visit to New Zealand, Lord Kitchener recommended that the Territorial Force be established at 30,000 men. The 1909 Act had set no establishment limits. 

The Engineers in New Zealand also had territorial units such as a Railway Corps (formed on 5 October 1911) to which Railway Battalions were added in 1913. The Post and Telegraph Corps was also formed on 5 October 1911 and added, together with Mounted Signals Troops and Divisional Signalling Companies, to the NZ Engineers on 1 July 1913. Only a few years later the system received its first test when men from all Territorial units made up the strength of the first overseas drafts to serve in WWI.

THE PERMANENT FORCE
On the other hand the Permanent part of the present Army Engineers has its genus in the Armed Constabulary and the Torpedo Corps. In 1880 the Military part of the Armed Constabulary (as opposed to the Policing part) was divided into branches for Artillery, Engineers, Torpedo Corps and a Field Force (Infantry). In May 1887 as a result of the Defence Act of 1886 the Armed Constabulary was replaced by the Permanent Militia. It included four Garrison Artillery `batteries' each of 30 men; a Torpedo Corps of 50 men; an Engineer Corps of 20 men; a Field Artillery Section of 50 men; and ten `companies' of Rifles each about 20 strong.

The Torpedo Corps was equipped with four 2nd Class Thornycroft steam powered spar torpedo boats - one located at each of the four main ports. These were initially armed with a spar which had an explosive charge at the extremity. The idea was to run the boat up against the side of an enemy vessel, place the charge under the water against the hull and fire it electrically. One commentator stated that this could be a very hazardous occupation. Fortunately these boats were not put to the test in this manner. They were later armed with two Whitehead compressed air powered torpedoes. They too were interesting in operation as when one was fired the crew had to immediately rush to the side where the torpedo was formerly placed so that the boat would not tip over. These boats were not long in commission. 

The Permanent Militia also had a small steam powered submarine mining vessel, the ELLEN BALLANCE which was for use in laying mines at the entrances to the main harbours. It went into service in 1884 but was described as being a dangerous ship in anything approaching bad weather. In 1900 the Government purchased two `proper' submarine mine laying steamers of the Napier of Magdala type. These were the LADY ROBERTS and the JANIE SEDDON. These were operated by the RNZE until we were absorbed into the RNZA in 1907. The JANIE SEDDON was based at Shelly Bay in Wellington and the LADY ROBERTS at North Head, Devonport, Auckland. They were both offered to the fledgling New Zealand Division of the Royal Navy in 1914 and in 1922 but `declined'. The LADY ROBERTS was handed over to the External Affairs Department in 1923 for use as transport in Western Samoa but was driven ashore in a gale in 1926. Repaired she finally became un-seaworthy in 1930 and was stripped for parts for the JANIE SEDDON which remained in service right through WWII before being sold.

THE ROYAL TITLE
On 15 October 1902 the Engineer section of the Permanent Force (No 2 Service Company) was accorded the privilege of a `Royal' title and was known thereafter as the Corps of Royal New Zealand Engineers. However this was a short lived privilege as our Corps was absorbed into the Electric Light Section of the Royal New Zealand Artillery in October 1907. We did not regain our Royal Title until after WWII.

Between these years the Territorial Force was the only formation called the New Zealand Engineers. There were a small number of Permanent Staff Instructors but these came under the umbrella of the Permanent Staff.

Gazette No 27, 1947 was the Authority for the regaining of our Royal Title but we were then known only as the Royal New Zealand Engineers. In 1953 we gained approval for the full title by which we are now known as The Corps of Royal New Zealand Engineers.
COLONEL IN CHIEF
The Corps of Royal New Zealand Engineers has only ever had three Colonel's in Chief. 

Our first Colonel in Chief and only non-royal person was Field Marshal Viscount Horatio Herbert Kitchener of Khartoum from 1911 until his death when HMS HAMPSHIRE was sunk on 6 June 1916 with the loss of all except a warrant officer and 11 men.  The Corps has some items amongst its Regimental Silver from the Kitchener estate. 

Not until February 1938 did we again have a Colonel in Chief. His Royal Highness the Duke of Kent, Earl of St Andrews, KG, KT, GCMG, GCVO is shown as our Colonel in Chief in the Army List.  He was killed while on active service in a flying accident in Scotland on 25 August 1942.

On 1 June 1953 Her Majesty, Queen Elizabeth the Second became our present Colonel in Chief. We were glad that she visited Linton Camp in February 1990 and inspected a Guard of Honour formed by The Corps of Royal New Zealand Engineers.

COLONEL COMMANDANT
The Colonel Commandant of the Corps is always a senior RNZE Officer. Holders of this appointment have been (not necessarily in exact order or complete). 

1 Jan 1949-1 May 1957  
Lt-Col R. Trevor-Smith, OBE

1 May 1957-14 May 1964  
Lt-Col Andrew Murray, OBE

14 May 1964-21 Jul 1964 
Lt-Col H.M. Reid, MC and bar, MID

21 Jul 1964-31 Mar 1970  
Lt-Col G.A. Lindell, DSO, OBE, ED

1 Apr 1970-31 Mar 1975  
Col John Brooke-White, OBE, MSc, BE

1 Apr 1975-31 Mar 1978  
Lt-Col A.R. Currie, DSO, OBE, BE

1 Apr 1978-31 Mar 1981  
Lt-Col R.C. Pemberton, MC and bar, ED

1 Apr 1981-31 Mar 1986  
Lt-Col K. Christie, MBE, ED, BE

1 Apr 1986-31 Mar 1993  
Lt-Col G.W. Butcher, MC, ED, BE

1 Apr 1993-31 Mar 1997  
Col R.K. Rutherford, BE

1 Apr 1997-             

Lt-Col R.A. Barrett





Brig S.D. Jameson
Honours and Awards


"They received, each for his own memory, praise that will never die. And with it, the grandest of all sepulchres, not that in which their mortal remains are laid, but a Home in the Minds of Men, where their glory remains for ever fresh, to stir to speech or action, as the occasion comes by. For the whole earth is a sepulchre of famous men, and their glory is graven not only in stone over their native land, but lives on, far away, without visible symbol, woven into the stuff of men's lives."


Pericles           


FOR VALOUR

Corporal C.R.G. BASSETT, V.C.

VICTORIA CROSS
4/515
Corporal Cyril Ruston Gyton BASSETT, New Zealand Divisional Signal Company, New Zealand Engineers.

"For most conspicuous gallantry and devotion to duty on the Chunuk Bair ridge in the Gallipoli Peninsula on the 7th August 1915.

After the New Zealand Infantry Brigade had attacked and established itself on the ridge, Corporal Bassett, in full daylight and under continuous and heavy fire succeeded in laying a telephone line from the old position to the new one on Chunuk Bair. He had subsequently been brought to notice for further excellent and most gallant work connected with the repair of telephone lines by day and night under heavy fire."

"London Gazette", 15 October 1915.

Sergeant S. FORSYTH, V.C.

VICTORIA CROSS
4/400
Sergeant Samuel Forsyth, New Zealand Engineers, (att 2nd Battalion, Auckland Infantry Regiment).

"For conspicuous gallantry and devotion to duty in an attack on Grevillers, France on 24 August 1918. On nearing his objective, his company came under heavy machine-gun fire. Through Sergeant Forsyth's dashing leadership and total disregard to danger, three machine-gun positions were rushed and the crews taken prisoner before they could inflict many casualties on our troops. During a subsequent advance his company came under heavy fire from several machine-guns, two of which he located by a reconnaissance. In his endeavour to gain support from a tank he was wounded, but after having the wound bandaged he again got in touch with the tank which, in the face of very heavy fire from machine-guns and anti-tank guns, he endeavoured to lead, with magnificent coolness, to a favourable position. The tank however was put out of action. Sergeant Forsyth then organised the tank crew and several of his men into a section and lead them to a position where the machine-guns could be outflanked. Always under heavy fire, he directed them into a position which brought about the retirement of the enemy machine-guns and enabled the advance to continue. This gallant NCO was at that moment killed by a sniper. From the commencement of the attack until the time of his death, Sergeant Forsyth's courage and coolness, combined with great power and initiative, proved an invaluable incentive to all who were with him and he undoubtedly saved many casualties among his comrades."

"London Gazette", 18 October 1918.

CORPS MUSIC

As engineers we are not well known for taking an interest in regimental music. Yet we have a wealth of stirring music used in the past on route marches, regimental parades and social events. With this wealth of music few pieces of music with a regimental connection come to mind. 

REGIMENTAL MARCH
Some may recall that "WINGS" is one of our regimental marches, and that "THE BRITISH GRENADIERS" is another tune to which we march.  Few of our Corps personnel know the origin of either.

Prior to 1870 the Royal Engineers used to march to a tune called "I'M NINETY FIVE" which was an old Rifle Brigade march, unaware that authority had been granted for the "British Grenadiers" to be used as the Corps quick march.

The exact origin of "Wings" is obscure, but it is known that the Commandant of the School of Military Engineering directed the Band Committee to adapt a popular air of the day as the Regimental Quick March. The Committee adapted "Wings". It is a combination of two tunes, scored by Bandmaster Newstead of the RE Band, one being from the air "The Path Across the Hills", a tune of unknown German origin and the other "Wings" by Miss Dickson. In 1889 the Corps was ordered to adopt the "British Grenadiers" but it was not until 1902 that "Wings" was also officially recognised.

CORPS SONG
The Corps Song "HURRAH FOR THE CRE", a great favourite amongst the Royal Engineers, had its origin during the South African War 1899 - 1902. The words are partly English and Kaffir. The tune is a traditional South African song called "Daer de die Ding". The Kaffir words are a complaint that there is "too much work and too little wages and too little food, so the Kaffirs are off!"


Good morning Mr Stevens and Windy Notchy Night


Hurrah for the CRE


We are Working very hard, down on Upnor Hard


Hurrah for the CRE


You make fast, I make fast, make fast the Dingy, 


Make fast the Dingy, make fast the Dingy.


You make fast, I make fast, make fast the Dingy, 


Make fast the Dingy, make fast the Dingy Pontoon.


For we're marching on to Laffan's Plain,


To Laffan's Plain, to Laffan's Plain,


Yes we're marching on to Laffan's Plain,


Where they don't know mud from clay.


Ah, ah, Ah, ah, Ah, ah, ah,


Oshta, Oshta, Oshta, Oshta,


Ikona malee picaninny skoff,


Ma-ninga sabenza, here's another off.


Oolum-da, cried Matabele,


Oolum-da, away we go.


Ah, ah, Ah, ah, Ah, ah, ah,


Shoosh.........Whooow.

Added to this the RNZE Now has its own Corps Haka. 

CORPS MOTTO
The two mottoes granted to the Corps, namely UBIQUE (Everywhere) and QUO FAS ET GLORIA DUCUNT (Where Right and Glory Lead), symbolise the Corps Service throughout the world and summarise the countless battle honours of the Corps.

CORPS COLOURS
Neither the Corps of Royal Engineers nor the Corps of Royal New Zealand Engineers carry Regimental or Queen’s Colours, guidons or banners as do the infantry, armoured or other service regiments.  Our colours are embodied in our badge and our motto. These are our recognition points and basis for our ‘Esprit de Corps’.

The Corps colours, shades or hues are the same as those of the Royal Engineers, i.e. Purple Navy and Post Office Red.  These were reportedly the colours of the old Board of Ordnance. 

Any Corps flags should be made in the following proportions; red 4/32, blue 5/32, red 14/32, blue 5/32, red 4/32 with the stripes horizontal. There has been provision in Army Orders for a motif to be included in the upper left quarter.

THE CORPS CAP BADGE
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We take our cap badge design from that of the Royal Engineers. Previously there were separate badges for the Royal Engineers and the Royal Sappers and Miners but since 1856 the one badge has been shared by both Officers and ORs. However the difference in the gilt and silver badges for the officers and warrant officers, and anodised badges for the ORs to us, still signifies our dual origins. RNZE is the only Commonwealth country which maintains the blue background of the Garter in the badge. The Motto in the badge HONI SOIT QUI MAL Y PENSE (Evil Be to Him That Thinks Evil of It) is the motto of the Order of the Garter, Britain's oldest order of chivalry.

THE CORPS MONOGRAM
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3
The Corps monogram is often used on letter headed paper, Christmas cards, and blazer pocket badges and we also have coloured transfers available from the Corps supplies. These transfers can be placed on a car windscreen or attached to a book as part of a book plate. The Corps Monogram is not worn on uniform.

THE GRENADES
Sapper grenades differ from those of Gunners and others like the Grenadier Guards or fusilier regiments who wear grenades as parts of their uniforms. 

An embroidered grenade was first worn on the tail of an RE Officer's full dress scarlet coatee in 1824, and the following year a brass grenade was introduced for Other Ranks of the Royal Sappers and Miners. The grenade was later worn on the epaulette and then on the collar. The number of flames on the grenade has varied over the years however since 1922 a nine flamed grenade with UBIQUE below it was authorised for the Royal Engineers. We in the Royal New Zealand Engineers wear the same grenades as the Royal Engineers.
The photo below of the Canterbury Engineer Volunteers shows grenades being worn on the sleeve above the rank chevrons and on the collar of the jacket.  The photo is indistinct so it is hard to know just how many flames are on this uniform. Sgt Swanston is on the left of this picture.
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The Royal Artillery Grenade has only seven flames.

REGIMENTAL COLOURS

RNZE, like the Corps of Royal Engineers do not carry colour or guidons as do the infantry or cavalry units.  One wit wrote that the man has not been born who would be large enough to be able to hold the 24 foot long staff and a 12 x 24 foot flag. 

Unit flags in the recognised Corps colours have been discussed above.

FREEDOMS
The Corps of Royal New Zealand Engineers has been accorded the honour of the Freedom of the Borough of Levin dating from 7 February 1959. A copy of that Freedom Charter is attached.

Other places have granted privileges to units of the RNZE but some of these may have fallen by the way with all the changes which have come about over the last few years. However we should not forget that citizens of several towns have granted rights from our association with those towns.

3 Field Squadron gained the privilege of the Freedom of both Akaroa and Greymouth, stemming from works done in those areas. In Greymouth the privilege was accorded particularly after flood relief work. 

6 Field Squadron gained the privilege of the Freedom of the Borough of Petone having been resident in Pattie Street for many years and was involved in many of the local activities. After only a few short years what has become of that?  Has that privilege devolved on the current unit which now encompasses part of the former 6 Field Squadron?  With the demise of 6 Field Squadron and now (15 October 1999) its antecedent 6 Troop, 1 Field Squadron, the Freedom of the Borough has also gone.

RNZE CORPS MEMORIAL CENTRE
AIM OF THE PROJECT
To recognise the contributions made by engineers who served in the army in times of peace and war by establishing a Memorial Centre which contains:

* a home for the Corps of Royal

  New Zealand Engineers

* the Engineer Rolls of Honour

* engineer historical records 

  and equipment

* the engineer library
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The RNZE Corps Memorial Centre is the repository of both historical artefacts and documents relating to our Corps. The buildings were erected from monies collected by both serving and retired sappers, who organised fetes, raffles, a golf tournament and other fund raising activities.  Several people within the Corps have personally donated over $1,000 including three men (one officer and two senior NCOS) who made this commitment during their service. Our Museum and Library is the only purpose designed building in the NZ Army to house a regimental collection.  It is sad to relate that RNZE do not have a person permanently on location within that complex.

The first building erected on site was the chapel which came from Makutuku in the Wairarapa. The local Makutuku congregation had so diminished that it could not support the retention and upkeep of the building so it was offered to the Army as a Chapel in Linton. Sappers of RNZE carefully removed this building  to Linton and rebuilt it where it now stands. 

Money for this work came from both Army funds and RNZE personnel, spearheaded by a group of WWII stalwarts such as Cols Andrew Murray, OBE, Gordon Lindell, DSO, ED, and Russ Currie, DSO, OBE. Many others also put in a great amount of time right throughout the country. The chapel was opened in 1974. Within the Chapel are a number of memorials to deceased sappers and there are gifts from the Royal Engineers and the Royal Australian Engineers and people of Linton Camp.


HISTORY OF PROJECT
1962
memorial idea mooted

1966
Memorial Association  formed

1974
RNZE Memorial Chapel opened

1982
Memorial Centre opened

1985
RE memorial Window dedicated

3
The next step was stage one of our Corps Memorial Centre. This was a continuation of the effort set in motion after the completion of the chapel but still part of the whole concept. The foundation stone for the Corps Memorial was laid by the Colonel Commandant Col. Russ Currie, DSO, OBE on Saturday 15 October 1977, the 75th anniversary of the granting of the Royal Title to our Corps. The Corps Memorial Centre was opened in January 1982 by the then Colonel Commandant Col Ken Christie, MBE, ED. Some years later an extension was added to the Corps Memorial which added almost as much space as the original building. 

Maintenance
This is our Corps Memorial and we are the ones who fund the maintenance and insurance on the complex. The insurance alone used to require a sum of $2000 per year. Do we need it? The answer is yes for we have had three break-ins and two floods where water damage has resulted in a claim. The Corps would have been up for a considerable sum of money had we not had this cover. Where does the money come from? At the moment the sole source is the fortnightly donations of serving sappers and a few retired sappers who still make a contribution. On the odd occasion there are extra funds which come from a variety of sources - most notably the RNZE Golf Competition - which has not been run for several years the last as I can recall being about 1994. 

As from later in 2008 this function will be taken over by Defence.

What can each of us do to assist this situation?
Each person can do a little by making a fortnightly allotment from their pay. This is a painless way of adding to the funds and is tax deductible. I suggest a minimum sum of $2.00 per fortnight. This is where your leadership and interest can assist maintaining the spirit of the Corps which is physically embodied in these surroundings.

SOME THOUGHTS FOR THE DAYS AHEAD.

Is there a sapper with an interest in the Corps History, traditions, and Esprit de Corps who could follow in the steps of the current museum curator and Corps Historian? 

AMBITION, THE SOLDIER'S VIRTUE - William Shakespeare, "Anthony and Cleopatra".
FOR 'TIS THE SPORT TO HAVE THE ENGINEER HOIST WITH HIS OWN PETAR - William Shakespeare, "Hamlet"
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